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Introduction 

Highlights 

The financial results of Picard Bondco S.A. for Q4 2017 (the quarter ended March 31, 2017) include the following 
highlights: 

 Q4 2017 sales of goods increased by 0.8% to €332.9 million, from €330.4 million in Q4 
2016,  despite the negative calendar effect in France over the period;  

 Q4 2017 gross profit increased by 1.4% to €148.5 million, from €146.5 million in Q4 
2016; and 

 Q4 2017 EBITDA increased by 14.0% to €46.3 million, from €40.6 million in Q4 2016. 

CEO Philippe Dailliez commented: “Our Q4 2017 sales of goods increased by €2.5 million, or 0.8%, despite negative 
French like-for-like sales. The period was indeed strongly impacted by a negative calendar effect following the 
absence of Easter and a different number of Saturdays between Q4 2017 and Q4 2016. As adjusted to exclude this 
calendar effect, we estimate our Q4 French like-for-like sales increased by 0.4%, in line with our annual like-for-like 
sales growth rate. Our expansion strategy enabled us to add €4.2 million to our French sales while our sales abroad 
increased by €1.3 million. During the period, we opened our third franchised store in Japan, and continued our 
promising partnership with Ocado in the UK. 
 
Our Q4 2017 gross profit improved by €2.0 million, or 1.4%, from €146.5 million in Q4 2016 to €148.5 million in Q4 
2017, supported by our sales and our gross margin increased to 44.6% in Q4 2017 from 44.3% in Q4 2016, 
confirming our ability to increase our margin in spite of higher expenses due to our CRM initiatives and development 
of franchises in the group. 
 
The expansion of our store network, the increase in gross profit margin combined with our close control of operating 
expenses, enabled us to achieve a strong performance over the period and increase our EBITDA by 14.0% or €5.7 
million (8.1%, or €3.3 million, excluding a change in the accounting of certain taxes which favorably impacted the 
quarter). 
 
In light of the continuing uncertain economic environment, management remains particularly cautious with respect to 
future results. In this context, our strategy for the coming quarters remains focused on optimizing our sales 
performance (in particular, by increasing our use of various communication channels, including digital 
communication, to improve customer outreach) and opening new stores in France and pursue prudent international 
expansion driven notably by franchised stores and partnerships, while maintaining our gross margin and closely 
monitoring our costs.”   

About Picard 

Picard is the leading retailer of frozen food products in France, and the pioneer in the sector. We offer our customers 
approximately 1,100 different frozen food SKUs, including unprocessed meat, fish and seafood, fruits and vegetables 
and bakery products, as well as a full-range of ready-made starters, main courses, desserts and ice cream at various 
prices. We introduced the concept of premium quality, appetizing frozen food to French consumers when we opened 
our first store in Paris in 1974. Since then, we have continued to develop the market for frozen food products in 
France by transforming the way the French public perceives and consumes frozen food. As of March 31, 2017, we 
had 985 stores in France (including two franchised stores in Corsica, seven franchised stores in La Réunion and nine 
franchised stores in mainland France), 16 stores in Belgium, 15 stores in Sweden, one store in Luxembourg, four 
franchised stores in Switzerland, three franchised stores in Japan, seven “corners” in Sweden and five “corners” in 
Japan. We also sell Picard-branded products in Italy through a commercial agreement with an Italian retailer. 

On October 14, 2010, Picard Groupe S.A.S. was acquired by funds managed or advised by Lion Capital LLP (“Lion 
Capital”). Lion Capital is a consumer retail-oriented investment firm with a focus on investments in mid-size and 
large, consumer-oriented brands in Europe and North America. 

On March 31, 2015, Lion Capital and its associated funds entered into negotiations with ARYZTA AG, a world-wide 
group active in the food industry and a leader in the manufacturing and distribution of bakery-related products to 
industrial companies, regarding the acquisition of a 49.5% interest in Picard Groupe S.A.S.’s indirect parent company. 
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Following receipt of all necessary regulatory approvals, the acquisition of 49.5% of Picard Groupe S.A.S.’s indirect 
parent company was completed on August 19, 2015.  ARYZTA AG also benefits from a call option in 2018, 2019 and 
2020, allowing it to acquire all the remaining shares of Picard Groupe S.A.S.’s indirect parent company.  

On October 6, 2010, Picard Bondco S.A. issued €300 million aggregate principal amount of 9% Senior Notes due 
2018 (the “2010 Senior Notes”), and on October 14, 2010, Lion Polaris S.A.S. (a subsidiary of Picard Bondco S.A., 
which merged with Picard Groupe S.A. on June 20, 2011 and was renamed Picard Groupe S.A.S.) borrowed €625 
million under senior credit facilities. In 2010 and 2011, Picard PIKco S.A. (the direct parent company of Picard 
Bondco S.A.) also issued 12% PIK Notes due 2019 (the “PIK Notes”) in an original aggregate principal amount of 
€95 million. 

On August 1, 2013, Picard Groupe S.A.S. issued €480 million aggregate principal amount of floating rate senior 
secured notes due 2019 (the “Existing Senior Secured Notes”), the proceeds of which were used, along with cash in 
hand, to permanently repay the €625 million senior credit facilities in their entirety. On the same date, Picard Groupe 
S.A.S. entered into a €30 million revolving credit facility (the “Revolving Credit Facility”). 

On September 29, 2014, Picard Bondco S.A. elected to redeem €115 million of its 2010 Senior Notes. The partial 
redemption occurred on October 29, 2014. On March 9, 2015, Picard Bondco S.A. redeemed the remaining €185 
million outstanding of its 2010 Senior Notes (the “Redemption”).  

On February 20, 2015, Picard Groupe S.A.S. issued €342 million aggregate principal amount of additional Existing 
Senior Secured Notes (the “Additional Senior Secured Notes” and, together with the Existing Senior Secured Notes, 
the “Senior Secured Notes”), while, at the same time, Picard Bondco S.A. issued €428 million aggregate principal 
amount of 7.75% Senior Notes due 2020 (the “Senior Notes”) (together with the Redemption, the “Refinancing”). The 
proceeds of the Additional Senior Secured Notes and the Senior Notes were used to (i) redeem the 2010 Senior Notes, 
(ii) pay the unpaid interest and the Redemption premium associated with the Redemption, (iii) fund distributions to 
the shareholders of the Picard Group and (iv) pay all fees and expenses related to the Refinancing. In connection with 
the Refinancing, Picard PIKCo issued €40 million additional PIK Notes and repurchased and cancelled €20 million of 
previously-issued PIK Notes. On February 20, 2015, the terms of the PIK Notes were also amended to extend the 
maturity date to 2020, among other things. 

On April 1, 2016, Picard Groupe S.A.S. elected to redeem €50 million of its Senior Secured Notes. The partial 
redemption occurred on May 3, 2016. 

Reporting 

This report will be supplemented by the 2017 Annual Report as of and for the year ended March 31, 2017 on or prior 
to July 29, 2017 pursuant to Section 4.03 of the indenture governing the Senior Secured Notes, as amended and 
supplemented from time to time (the “Senior Secured Notes Indenture”), the indenture governing the PIK Notes, as 
amended and supplemented from time to time (the “PIK Notes Indenture”), and the indenture governing the New 
Senior Notes as amended and supplemented from time to time (the “New Senior Notes Indenture” and, together with 
the Senior Secured Notes Indenture and the PIK Notes Indenture, the “Indentures”), as well as clause 23.3 and clause 
1.1.(a) of Schedule 14 of the agreement governing the Revolving Credit Facility (the “Revolving Credit Facility 
Agreement”). 

Presentation of Financial Information 

Financial statements presented 

This report contains the audited consolidated financial statements of Picard Bondco S.A. (the “Consolidated Financial 
Statements”), the reporting entity for the Picard group, prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards, as adopted by the European Union (“IFRS-EU” or “IFRS”). 

We have prepared the audited consolidated financial statements for Picard Bondco S.A. from April 1, 2016 to March 
31, 2017, which are presented in this report in accordance with IFRS, including (i) the consolidated statement of 
financial position as of March 31, 2017, (ii) the statement of income for the year ended March 31, 2017 and (iii) the 
statement of cash flow for the year ended March 31, 2017. See the “Notes to the consolidated financial statements” of 
Picard Bondco S.A. for a discussion of Picard Bondco S.A.’s accounting policies. 
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The accounting policies of Picard Bondco S.A. as set out in the Picard Bondco annual financial statements as of and 
for the year ended March 31, 2017 under IFRS have been consistently applied, except for the adoption of new 
standards and interpretations effective as of April 1, 2016. See note 2.2 of the “Notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements” of Picard Bondco S.A. for a discussion of Picard Bondco S.A.’s accounting policies. 

We have also included herein unaudited condensed financial information for Picard Bondco S.A. as of and for the 
three months ended March 31, 2017. 

Other Financial Measures 

The following measures are the primary non-IFRS financial measures that are presented in this report. 

EBITDA is a non-IFRS measure that represents operating profit before depreciation and amortization. This measure is 
derived from income statement account items calculated in accordance with IFRS and is used by management as an 
indicator of operating performance. EBITDA differs from the definitions of “Consolidated EBITDA” under the 
Indentures and the Revolving Credit Facility Agreement. 

EBITDA, as presented in this report, is not a measurement of financial performance under IFRS-EU and should not be 
considered as an alternative to other indicators of our operating performance, cash flows or any other measure of 
performance derived in accordance with IFRS-EU.  

French like-for-like sales refers to like-for-like sales made through directly-operated stores in mainland France, 
excluding franchises in mainland France, Corsica and La Réunion. For the purpose of like-for-like calculations, a 
store will be included (i) on the first day of the twelfth month following its opening date if it was opened between the 
first and the fifteenth day of any given month and (ii) on the first day of the thirteenth month following its opening 
date in all other cases. Like-for-like sales growth is presented because we believe it is frequently used by investors and 
other interested parties in evaluating companies in the retail sector. However, other companies may define like-for-
like sales growth in a different manner than we do. 

For Further Information 

Investor Relations: Guillaume Degauque 

E-mail: investor_relations@picard.fr 
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND  
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS FOR PICARD BONDCO 

The historical information discussed below for Picard Bondco S.A. is as of and for the three- and twelve-month 
periods ended March 31, 2016 and March 31, 2017 and is not necessarily representative of Picard Bondco’s results of 
operations for any future period or our financial condition at any future date.  We have prepared the audited 
consolidated financial statements for Picard Bondco S.A. from April 1, 2016 to March 31, 2017 included herein, in 
accordance with IFRS. We have also included herein unaudited condensed financial information for Picard Bondco 
S.A. as of and for the three-month periods ended March 31, 2016 and March 31, 2017. 

The following discussion includes forward-looking statements based on assumptions about our future business. 
Our future results could differ materially from those contained in these forward-looking statements. Percentages may 
be calculated on non-rounded figures and therefore may vary from percentages calculated on rounded figures. 

In this report, unless otherwise indicated, all amounts are expressed in millions of euro. 

Selected Condensed Consolidated Financial Information of Picard Bondco 
 

 Three months ended 
(*)  

Year ended 

Currency: in million of € 
March 31, 
2016(**) 

March 31, 
2017 

March 31, 
2016(**) 

March 31, 
2017 

Sales of goods 330.4 332.9 1 372.0 1 398.0
Cost of goods sold (184.0) (184.4) (771.1) (784.3)

Gross profit 146.5 148.5 600.8 613.8
Other operating income 0.9 1.5 5.4 5.0
Other purchases and external expenses (57.8) (58.7) (230.3) (233.4)
Taxes (8.3) (5.9) (16.9) (17.3)
Personnel expenses (39.9) (38.9) (165.2) (165.1)
Other operating expenses (0.9) (0.3) (2.2) (1.7)

EBITDA 40.6 46.3 191.7 201.2
Depreciation, amortization and provisions allowances (8.0) (9.0) (34.8) (33.9)

Operating profit 32.6 37.3 156.8 167.4
Finance costs (19.6) (17.7) (76.6) (72.6)
Finance income 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.1
Share of profit in an associate 0.1 0.2 0.6 0.5

Income before tax 13.1 19.8 81.0 95.5
Income tax expense (10.0) (9.0) (42.6) 2.2

Net income 3.1 10.8 38.4 97.6
Equity holders of the parent 3.0 11.0 38.6 97.9
Non-controlling interests 0.1 (0.2) (0.2) (0.3)

(*) Unaudited. 
(**) After the impact of the adoption of IFRIC 21 – “Levies” (See notes 2.1.1 and 2.1.3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 
March 31, 2016) and certain reclassifications of income and expenses between line items of the consolidated income statement made with a view to 
align with the presentation of the consolidated income statement for the year ended March 31, 2017, without impacting Operating profit (see detail 
of the reclassifications under Consolidated Income Statement in our Consolidated Financial Statements). 

The following discussion and analysis summarizes EBITDA for the three months and for the years ended 
March 31, 2016 and 2017. EBITDA is a non-IFRS measure that represents operating profit before depreciation, 
amortization, and provisions allowances. This measure is derived from income statement account items calculated in 
accordance with IFRS-EU and is used by management as an indicator of operating performance. EBITDA differs 
from the definitions of “Consolidated EBITDA” under our Indentures. See “Presentation of Financial Information”. 

Results of operations  

Expansion of Store Network 

As of March 31, 2017, we had 985 stores in France (including two franchised stores in Corsica, seven 
franchised stores in La Réunion and nine franchised stores in mainland France), 16 stores in Belgium, 15 stores in 
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Sweden, one store in Luxembourg, as well as three franchised stores in Japan and four franchised stores in 
Switzerland. 

Sales of goods 

Years ended March 31, 2017 and March 31, 2016 

Our sales of goods increased by €26.0 million, or 1.9%, from €1,372.0 million for the year ended March 31, 
2016 to €1,398.0 million for the year ended March 31, 2017.  

In France, sales of goods increased by €22.7 million, or 1.7%, from €1,343.1 million for the year ended March 
31, 2016 to €1,365.8 million for the year ended March 31, 2017. French like-for-like sales increased by 0.3% over the 
period, as a result of a 0.3% increase in the total number of tickets partially offset by a 0.1% decrease in the average 
basket size. This increase in French like-for-like sales was partially offset by a negative calendar effect estimated at 
0.5% relating primarily to the absence of Easter during the year ended March 31, 2017. As adjusted to exclude such 
calendar effect, French like-for-like sales would have increased by an estimated 0.8%. 

Sales in Belgium and Luxembourg increased by €0.7 million, or 4.6%, from €15.3 million for the year ended 
March 31, 2016 to €16.0 million for the year ended March 31, 2017, mainly because of dynamic like-for-like sales.  

Sales in Sweden increased by €0.8 million, or 9.0%, from €8.9 million for the year ended March 31, 2016 to 
€9.7 million for the year ended March 31, 2017 mainly due to the increase in our number of stores during the year 
ended March 31, 2016. 

Following the completion of the sale of the Italian subsidiary in May 2015, the contribution of sales in Italy 
decreased by €1.3 million, from €3.6 million for the year ended March 31, 2016 to €2.3 million for the year ended 
March 31, 2017. Our new commercial agreement signed following the divestment of the subsidiary enables us to 
maintain our presence in Italy, although revenue from Italy is now lower than prior to the divestment. 

Additionally, sales to franchised stores and partners located in other foreign locations increased by €3.2 million, 
from €1.1 million for the year ended March 31, 2016 to €4.3 million for the year ended March 31, 2017. In particular, 
sales in Switzerland increased by €0.6 million, from €0.8 million to €1.4 million, sales in Japan amounted to €2.2 
million following the opening by Aeon of three franchised stores at the end of the year ended March 31, 2017 and 
sales in the United Kingdom through our partnership with Ocado, which began in October 2016, amounted to €0.7 
million. 

Three months ended March 31, 2017 and March 31, 2016 

Our sales of goods increased by €2.5 million, or 0.8%, from €330.4 million for the three months ended March 
31, 2016 to €332.9 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017.  

In France, sales of goods increased by €1.4 million, or 0.4%, from €323.3 million for the three months ended 
March 31, 2016 to €324.7 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017. French like-for-like sales decreased by 
1.0% over the period, as a result of a 1.4% decrease in the average basket size, partially offset by a 0.4% increase in 
the total number of tickets. This decrease in French like-for-like sales was mainly due to a negative calendar effect 
estimated at 1.4%, which relates primarily to the absence of Easter during the fourth quarter of this year as well as 
fewer Saturdays during the three months ended March 31, 2017 compared to the three months ended March 31, 2016. 
As adjusted to exclude such calendar effect, French like-for-like sales would have increased by an estimated 0.4%. 

Sales in Belgium and Luxembourg increased by €0.1 million, from €3.7 million for the three months ended 
March 31, 2016 to €3.8 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017, mainly because of dynamic like-for-like 
sales.  

Sales in Sweden decreased by €0.1 million, from €2.7 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016 to 
€2.6 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017 mainly due to a store closure during the three months ended 
March 31, 2017 and low like-for-like sales growth. 

The contribution of sales in Italy increased by €0.1 million, from €0.5 million for the three months ended March 
31, 2016 to €0.6 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017.  

Additionally, sales to franchised stores and partners located in other foreign locations increased by €1.0 million, 
from €0.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016 to €1.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 
2017. In particular, sales in Switzerland increased by €0.1 million, from €0.2 million to €0.3 million, sales in Japan 
amounted to €0.8 million following the opening by Aeon of three franchised stores at the end of the three months 
ended March 31, 2017 and sales in the United Kingdom through our partnership with Ocado amounted to €0.3 
million.  
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Cost of goods sold   

Years ended March 31, 2017 and March 31, 2016 

Our cost of goods sold increased by €13.2 million, or 1.7%, from €771.1 million for the year ended March 31, 
2016 to €784.3 million for the year ended March 31, 2017, primarily due to an increased volume of purchases from 
our suppliers. Cost of goods sold as a percentage of sales decreased from 56.2% for the year ended March 31, 2016 to 
56.1% for the year ended March 31, 2017. 

Three months ended March 31, 2017 and March 31, 2016 

Our cost of goods sold increased by €0.4 million, or 0.2%, from €184.0 million for the three months ended 
March 31, 2016 to €184.4 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017, mainly due to an increased volume of 
purchases from our suppliers. Cost of goods sold as a percentage of sales decreased from 55.7% for the three months 
ended March 31, 2016 to 55.4% for the three months ended March 31, 2017. 

Gross Profit 

Years ended March 31, 2017 and March 31, 2016 

Our gross profit increased by €13.0 million, or 2.2%, from €600.8 million for the year ended March 31, 2016 to 
€613.8 million for the year ended March 31, 2017, as a result of higher sales, continuous negotiations with suppliers 
and development of new products with higher margins. Gross profit as a percentage of sales of goods increased from 
43.8% for the year ended March 31, 2016 to 43.9% for the year ended March 31, 2017. 

Three months ended March 31, 2017 and March 31, 2016 

Our gross profit increased by €2.0 million, or 1.4%, from €146.5 million for the three months ended March 31, 
2016 to €148.5 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017, as a result of higher sales. Gross profit as a 
percentage of sales of goods increased from 44.3% for the three months ended March 31, 2016 to 44.6% for the three 
months ended March 31, 2017. 

Other operating income 

Years ended March 31, 2017 and March 31, 2016 

Other operating income decreased by €0.4 million from €5.4 million for the year ended March 31, 2016 to €5.0 
million for the year ended March 31, 2017. Other operating income for the year ended March 31, 2016 included a €1.4 
million indemnity received from the authorities as compensation for a store eviction and income received from the 
sale of one of our stores that closed in 2014. This decrease in indemnities received was partially offset by a €0.6 
million increase in capitalized expenses recorded in the year ended March 31, 2017 relating mainly to recent launches 
of IT projects. 

Three months ended March 31, 2017 and March 31, 2016 

Other operating income increased by €0.6 million from €0.9 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016 
to €1.5 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017. This increase was primarily due to a €0.6 million increase 
in capitalized expenses recorded in the year ended March 31, 2017, relating mainly to recent launches of IT projects.  

Other purchases and external expenses  

Years ended March 31, 2017 and March 31, 2016 

Our other purchases and external expenses increased by €3.1 million, or 1.3%, from €230.3 million for the year 
ended March 31, 2016 to €233.4 million for the year ended March 31, 2017. This increase was primarily due to the 
increase in logistics costs following the expansion of our store network and increased sales, as well as increased 
advertising efforts. Rental costs increased following the expansion of our store network, though this increase was 
limited by low inflation rates to which the majority of our rents are indexed, combined with rent renegotiations with 
certain landlords. This increase in other purchases and external expenses was partially offset by lower energy costs 
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following the signing of a new energy contract during the year ended March 31, 2016. Other purchases and external 
expenses as a percentage of sales of goods decreased from 16.8% for the year ended March 31, 2016 to 16.7% for the 
year ended March 31, 2017. 

Three months ended March 31, 2017 and March 31, 2016 

Our other purchases and external expenses increased by €0.9 million, or 1.6%, from €57.8 million for the three 
months ended March 31, 2016 to €58.7 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017. This increase was 
primarily due to higher logistics costs resulting from the expansion of our store network in France as well as 
advertising efforts, which were partially offset by lower energy costs. Rental costs increased following store network 
expansion, though this increase was limited by low inflation rates to which the majority of our rents are indexed, 
combined with rent renegotiations with certain landlords. Maintenance and cleaning expenses were well controlled. 

Taxes other than on income 

Years ended March 31, 2017 and March 31, 2016  

Taxes other than on income increased from €16.9 million for the year ended March 31, 2016 to €17.3 million 
for the year ended March 31, 2017. Taxes other than on income as a percentage of sales of goods remained flat at 
1.2% for the year ended March 31, 2016 and March 31, 2017. 

Three months ended March 31, 2017 and March 31, 2016 

Taxes other than on income decreased from €8.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016 to €5.9 
million for the three months ended March 31, 2017. This decrease resulted mainly from a change in the accounting for 
the French tax on commercial areas which was implemented on April 1, 2016. Following a change in legislation and 
in accordance with the interpretation IFRIC 21 – “Levies”, the tax is now recognized on a pro rata basis, instead of 
being fully accounted for on January 1st of each year. This change in accounting treatment triggered a €2.4 million 
negative timing impact on certain taxes recognized in the three months ended March 31, 2017 but had no material 
impact on a full year basis. Due to this accounting method change, taxes other than on income as a percentage of sales 
of goods decreased from 2.5% for the three months ended March 31, 2016 to 1.8% for the three months ended March 
31, 2017. 

Personnel expenses 

Years ended March 31, 2017 and March 31, 2016 

Personnel expenses decreased by €0.1 million, or 0.1%, from €165.2 million for the year ended March 31, 2016 
to €165.1 million for the year ended March 31, 2017. As a proportion of sales of goods, personnel expenses decreased 
from 12.0% for the year ended March 31, 2016 to 11.8% for the year ended March 31, 2017. Personnel expenses for 
the year ended March 31, 2016 included a €2.0 million non-recurring bonus paid to the employees of the group in 
September 2015. 

Wages and salaries increased by €0.4 million, or 0.4%, from €111.7 million for the year ended March 31, 2016 
to €112.1 million for the year ended March 31, 2017, as a result of the new store openings in France and Sweden, 
partially offset by the non-recurring bonus recorded in the year ended March 31, 2016 but not in the year ended March 
31, 2017. As a proportion of sales of goods, wages and salaries decreased from 8.1% for the year ended March 31, 
2016 to 8.0% for the year ended March 31, 2017. 

Employee profit sharing increased from €14.7 million for the year ended March 31, 2016 to €16.5 million for 
the year ended March 31, 2017, as a result of the increase in the French net income and higher contractual profit 
sharing (“intéressement”). 

Other personnel expenses decreased from €38.9 million for the year ended March 31, 2016 to €36.4 million for 
the year ended March 31, 2016. The impact of the competitiveness and employment tax credit (“Crédit d’impôt pour 
la compétitivité et l’emploi”) (the “CICE”) was recorded as a reduction of social security costs (€5.7 million in the 
year ended March 31, 2016 and €6.1 million in the year March 31, 2017). Excluding the CICE, social security costs 
decreased by €1.7 million, or 4.4%, from €39.0 million for the year ended March 31, 2016 to €37.3 million for the 
year ended March 31, 2017, which reflected mainly the increased number of employees in connection with store 
openings in France and Sweden, which was more than offset by a reduction of certain French social charges, 
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principally family allowance contributions (“cotisations d’allocations familiales”) and “allègements Fillon”, which 
consist of a tax credit granted based on the number of employees receiving low wages. As a proportion of sales of 
goods, social security costs decreased from 2.4% for the year ended March 31, 2016 to 2.2% for the year ended March 
31, 2017. 

Three months ended March 31, 2017 and March 31, 2016 

Personnel expenses decreased by €1.0 million, or 2.5%, from €39.9 million for the three months ended March 
31, 2016 to €38.9 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017. As a proportion of sales of goods, personnel 
expenses decreased from 12.1% for the three months ended March 31, 2016 to 11.7% for the three months ended 
March 31, 2017.  

Wages and salaries increased by €0.9 million, or 3.5%, from €25.7 million for the three months ended March 
31, 2016 to €26.6 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017, as a result of annual salary increases in France, 
Belgium and Sweden and the expansion of our store network. As a proportion of sales of goods, wages and salaries 
increased from 7.8% for the three months ended March 31, 2016 to 8.0% for the three months ended March 31, 2017. 

Employee profit sharing increased from €3.9 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016 to €4.4 million 
for the three months ended March 31, 2017, as a result of the increase in the French net income and higher contractual 
profit sharing (“intéressement”). 

Other personnel expenses decreased by €2.3 million, from €10.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 
2016 to €8.0 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017. The impact of the CICE was recorded as a reduction 
of social security costs (€1.3 million in the three months ended March 31, 2016 and €1.6 million in the three months 
ended March 31, 2017). Excluding the impact of the CICE, social security costs decreased by €1.5 million, from €9.9 
million for the three months ended March 31, 2016 to €8.4 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017, which 
mainly reflected a reduction of certain French social charges, principally family allowance contributions (“cotisations 
d’allocations familiales”) and “allègements Fillon”, which consist of a tax credit granted based on the number of 
employees receiving low wages. As a proportion of sales of goods, social security costs decreased from 2.6% for the 
three months ended March 31, 2016 to 2.0% for the three months ended March 31, 2017. 

EBITDA  

Years ended March 31, 2017 and March 31, 2016 

EBITDA increased by €9.5 million, or 5.0%, from €191.7 million for the year ended March 31, 2016 to €201.2 
million for the year ended March 31, 2017, primarily due to a €13.0 million increase in gross profit, partially offset by 
a €3.1 million increase in other purchases and external expenses. As a proportion of sales of goods, EBITDA 
increased from 14.0% for the year ended March 31, 2016 to 14.4% for the year ended March 31, 2017.  

Three months ended March 31, 2017 and March 31, 2016 

EBITDA increased by €5.7 million, or 14.0%, from €40.6 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016 to 
€46.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017. As a proportion of sales of goods, EBITDA increased from 
12.3% for the three months ended March 31, 2016 to 13.9% for the three months ended March 31, 2017. This increase 
is primarily due to the increase in sales as well as the increase in gross profit associated with the limited increase of 
operational expenses and a decrease in taxes other than on income relating to the timing effect of the change in 
accounting rules relating to the interpretation of IFRIC 21 – “Levies”. As adjusted to exclude this timing effect, 
EBITDA increased by €3.3 million or 8.1%. 

Depreciation, amortization and provisions allowances 

Years ended March 31, 2017 and March 31, 2016 

Depreciation, amortization and provisions allowances decreased from €34.8 million for the year ended March 
31, 2016 to €33.9 million for the year ended March 31, 2017. This decrease was due to a one-off accelerated 
depreciation of four stores that were closed in July and October 2015, while only a minor increase in depreciation and 
amortization of assets in France and Sweden occurred during the year ended March 31, 2017 following an increase in 
the number of stores in the store network. As a proportion of sales of goods, depreciation, amortization and provisions 
allowances decreased from 2.5% for the year ended March 31, 2016 to 2.4% for the year ended March 31, 2017. 
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Three months ended March 31, 2017 and March 31, 2016 

Depreciation, amortization and provisions allowances increased from €8.0 million for the three months ended 
March 31, 2016 to €9.0 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017. This increase was primarily due to higher 
IT capital expenditures in France during the fourth quarter and the expansion of our store network.  As a proportion of 
sales of goods, depreciation, amortization and provisions allowances increased from 2.4% for the three months ended 
March 31, 2016 to 2.7% for the three months ended March 31, 2017. 

Operating profit  

Years ended March 31, 2017 and March 31, 2016 

Operating profit increased by €10.6 million, or 6.8%, from €156.8 million for the year ended March 31, 2016, to 
€167.4 million for the year ended March 31, 2017. As a proportion of sales of goods, operating profit increased from 
11.4% for the year ended March 31, 2016 to 12.0% for the year ended March 31, 2017. 

Three months ended March 31, 2017 and March 31, 2016 

Operating profit increased by €4.7 million, or 14.4%, from €32.6 million for the three months ended March 31, 
2016, to €37.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017. As a proportion of sales of goods, operating profit 
increased from 9.9% for the three months ended March 31, 2016 to 11.2% for the three months ended March 31, 
2017. This increase is primarily due to the increase in our operational result and a decrease in taxes other than on 
income relating to the timing effect of the change in accounting rules relating to the interpretation of IFRIC 21 – 
“Levies”. 

Finance costs 

Years ended March 31, 2017 and March 31, 2016 

Finance costs decreased from €76.6 million for the year ended March 31, 2016 to €72.6 million for the year 
ended March 31, 2017. This decrease in finance costs was mainly due to (i) a decrease in our interest expense 
following the €50.0 million partial redemption of the Senior Secured Notes that occurred in May 2016, (ii) a €0.6 
million non-recurring expense reflecting the write-off of the non-amortized issuance fees recorded in the year ended 
March 31, 2016 in connection with this partial redemption of the Senior Secured Notes and (iii) a €1.0 million gain 
relating to our hedging contracts that matured during the year ended March 31, 2017 and which were settled at less 
favorable rates than current market conditions.  

Three months ended March 31, 2017 and March 31, 2016 

Finance costs decreased by €1.9 million from €19.6 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016 to €17.7 
million for the three months ended March 31, 2017. This decrease in finance costs was mainly explained by (i) a 
decrease in our interest expenses following the €50.0 million partial redemption of the Senior Secured Notes that 
occurred in May 2016, (ii) a €0.6 million non-recurring expense reflecting the write-off of the non-amortized issuance 
fees recorded in the three months ended March 31, 2016 in connection with this partial redemption of the Senior 
Secured Notes and (iii) a €0.2 million gain relating to our hedging contracts that matured during the year ended March 
31, 2017 and which were settled at less favorable rates than current market conditions. 

Finance income   

Years ended March 31, 2017 and March 31, 2016 

Finance income decreased by €0.1 million from €0.2 million for the year ended March 31, 2016 to €0.1 million 
for the year ended March 31, 2017.  

Three months ended March 31, 2017 and March 31, 2016 

Finance income remained flat at €0.0 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016 and March 31, 2017.  
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Income before Tax  

Years ended March 31, 2017 and March 31, 2016 

Income before tax increased by €14.5 million, from €81.0 million for the year ended March 31, 2016 to €95.5 
million for the year ended March 31, 2017. As a proportion of sales of goods, income before tax increased from 5.9% 
for the year ended March 31, 2016 to 6.8% for the year ended March 31, 2017. 

Three months ended March 31, 2017 and March 31, 2016 

Income before tax increased by €6.7 million, from €13.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016 to 
€19.8 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017. As a proportion of sales of goods, income before tax 
increased from 4.0% for the three months ended March 31, 2016 to 5.9% for the three months ended March 31, 2017. 

Income tax expense   

Years ended March 31, 2017 and March 31, 2016 

Income tax expense decreased by €44.8 million from an expense of €42.6 million for the year ended March 31, 
2016 to an income of €2.2 million for the year ended March 31, 2017. 

Income tax expense included non-recurring deferred tax income of €45.8 million relating to the accounting 
impact of changes in tax rates on deferred taxes. This effect resulted from the anticipated reduction in the corporate 
income tax rate in France, passed in the 2017 Budget Act (Loi de finance pour 2017) and which will be in effect 
beginning in 2020. This change reduced the tax rate used to calculate our deferred tax liability from 34.43% to 
28.92%. As a result, long-term deferred taxes – essentially related to the Picard trademark – were revalued based on 
the rate applicable as of 2020. 

Excluding this non-recurring deferred tax income, income tax expense amounted to €43.6 million, decreasing as 
a percentage of income before tax from 52.6% for the year ended March 31, 2016 to 45.7% for the year ended March 
31, 2017. This decrease in income tax expense was primarily due to a reduction of our currently applicable tax rate; 
the exceptional contribution on corporate income tax, which had been applicable in France since 2012, was 
discontinued as of December 31, 2016. 

Three months ended March 31, 2017 and March 31, 2016 

Income tax expense decreased by €1.0 million from €10.0 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016 to 
€9.0 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017. This decrease in income tax expense was primarily due to a 
reduction of our currently applicable tax rate; the exceptional contribution on corporate income tax, which had been 
applicable in France since 2012, was discontinued as of December 31, 2016.  

Net income 

Years ended March 31, 2017 and March 31, 2016 

Net income increased by €59.2 million, from €38.4 million for the year ended March 31, 2016 to €97.6 million 
for the year ended March 31, 2017, as a result of the factors described above. Excluding the non-recurring deferred tax 
income, net income increased by €13.4 million from €38.4 million to €51.8 million. 

Three months ended March 31, 2017 and March 31, 2016 

Net income increased by €7.7 million, from €3.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016 to €10.8 
million for the three months ended March 31, 2017, as a result of the factors described above. 
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Certain material differences in the financial condition and results of operations between Picard Bondco S.A. 
and Lion Polaris II S.A.S. (the direct parent of Picard Groupe S.A.S.) 

The consolidated financial information of Picard Bondco S.A. does not reflect intercompany loans between Picard 
Bondco S.A. and its subsidiaries. On February 20, 2015, Picard Groupe S.A.S. issued €342 million in aggregate 
principal amount of Additional Senior Secured Notes and Picard Bondco S.A. issued €428 million in aggregate 
principal amount of Senior Notes. In connection therewith, a loan in an aggregate principal amount of €428 million 
from Picard Bondco S.A. to Lion/Polaris Lux 3 S.A., a loan in an aggregate principal amount of €428 million from 
Lion/Polaris Lux 3 S.A. to Lion/Polaris Lux 4 S.A. and a loan in an aggregate principal amount of €428 million from 
Lion/Polaris Lux 4 S.A. to Lion Polaris II S.A.S. were made, in each case due February 2020, bearing interest at a rate 
of 7.75% plus a margin. 

In addition, Picard Groupe S.A.S. is the issuer of the Senior Secured Notes. The Senior Secured Notes are guaranteed 
on a senior basis by Lion/Polaris Lux 3 S.A., Lion/Polaris Lux 4 S.A., Lion Polaris II S.A.S. and Picard Surgelés 
S.A.S. and on a subordinated basis by Picard Bondco S.A. Picard Bondco S.A. is the issuer of the Senior Notes. The 
Senior Notes are guaranteed on a subordinated basis by Lion Polaris II S.A.S., Lion/Polaris Lux 3 S.A. and 
Lion/Polaris Lux 4 S.A. Picard Bondco S.A. had also issued approximately €381.7 million of mandatory redeemable 
preferred shares, of which €367.6 million (and all the accrual yield) were redeemed in connection with the 
Refinancing.  On May 29, 2015, Picard Bondco S.A., as a result of a capital contribution without the issuance of new 
shares, redeemed and cancelled the remaining mandatory redeemable preferred shares for a total aggregate price of 
€14.5 million, including accrued interest. 

The results of operations of Picard Bondco S.A. and its subsidiaries do not differ materially from those of Lion Polaris 
II S.A.S. and its subsidiaries. The principal difference in EBITDA is the holding company expenses of Picard Bondco 
S.A., Lion/Polaris Lux 3 S.A. and Lion/Polaris Lux 4 S.A. 
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Consolidated	Income	Statement	

(* ) The following main reclassifications have been made to the consolidated income statement for the period ended  March 31, 
2016 with a view to aligning it with the presentation of the consolidated income statement for the period ended March 31, 2017 
without any impact on operating profit :  

• Reclassification of sold shipping costs: from sales of goods to other operating income for 1 090 K€

• Reclassification of purchased shipping costs: from other purchases and external expenses to cost of goods sold for     3 038 K€

• Reclassification of gain and loss on non-current assets disposed of : from other operating income to other purchases and external
expenses for 226 K€ and from other operating expenses to other purchases and external expenses for  1 494 K€ 

• Reclassifications from Depreciation, amortization and provisions allowances to Personnel expenses for 199K€, Taxes for 28K€,
Other purchases and external expenses for -151K€, and Cost of goods sold for -100K€. 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements 

(In thousand of €) March 31, 2017 March 31, 2016 *

Notes
Sales of goods 6 1 398 030 1 371 971
Cost of goods sold (784 250) (771 136)
Gross profit 613 780 600 835

Other operating income 7.1 4 969 5 445
Other purchases and external expenses (233 409) (230 301)
Taxes (17 325) (16 938)
Personnel expenses 7.3 (165 076) (165 224)
Depreciation, amortization and provisions allowances (33 851) (34 849)

Other operating expenses 7.2 (1 722) (2 156)
Operating profit 167 367 156 812

Finance costs 7.4 (72 576) (76 552)
Finance income 7.4 143 173
Share of profit in an associate 8 548 570
Income before tax 95 482 81 003

Income tax expense 9 2 163 (42 592)
Net income 97 645 38 411

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 97 934 38 630

Non-controlling interests (289) (219)

Earnings per share:
Basic earnings per share (in euros ) 19 37,07 14,62
Fully diluted earnings per share (in euros ) 19 37,07 14,62
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Consolidated	Statement	of	Comprehensive	Income 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements 

(In thousand of €) March 31, 2017 March 31, 2016

Notes
Net income 97 645 38 411

Items to be reclassified to profit and loss:

Net gain / (loss) on cash flow hedges 12.3 704 1 036
Income tax (242) (357)

462 679

Foreign currency translation 56 (26)

Items not to be reclassified to profit and loss:

Actuarial gains / (loss) of the period 21 (33) (39)
Income tax (114) 13

(147) (26)

Other comprehensive income / (loss) for the period, net of tax 371 628

Comprehensive income 98 016 39 039

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 98 305 39 258

Non-controlling interests (289) (219)
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Consolidated	Statement	of	Financial	Position	

²The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements 

(In thousand of €) Notes As at March 31, 2017 As at March 31, 2016

Assets
Goodwill 13 815 170 815 170
Property, plant and equipment 11 224 646 224 552
Other intangible assets 10 841 357 838 000
Investment in an associate 8 10 957 10 597
Other non-current financial assets 12.1 12 797 13 454
Deferred tax asset 9 - -
Total non-current assets 1 904 928 1 901 773

Inventory 14 88 087 79 835
Trade and other receivables 15 45 124 42 198
Current financial assets 379 379
Cash and cash equivalents 16 115 045 122 594
Total current assets 248 635 245 007
Assets held for sale 24 - -
Total assets 2 153 563 2 146 780

Equity and liabilities
Issued capital 17 2 642 2 642
Share premium 17 266 185 266 476
MRPS 17 - -
Other comprehensive income (131) (527)
Retained earnings 83 943 44 725
Net income of the period 97 934 38 630
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 450 573 351 946
Non-controlling interests (456) (104)
Total equity 450 117 351 842

Non-current liabilities
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 12.2 1 188 997 1 185 017
Other non-current financial liabilities 88 1 355
Provisions 20 3 238 3 400
Employee benefit liability 21 7 301 6 765
Deferred tax liability 9 258 102 305 829
Total non-current liabilities 1 457 725 1 502 366

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 23 234 672 230 334
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 12.2 11 048 61 845
Other current financial liabilities 12.3 396
Provisions -
Total current liabilities 245 721 292 575
Total liabilities 1 703 446 1 794 941
Liabilities held for sale 24 - -
Total equity and liabilities 2 153 563 2 146 780
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Consolidated	Statement	of	Changes	in	Equity	

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements 

In thousand of € Issued capital Share premium MRPS
Cash flow hedge 

reserve
Actuarial gain / 

(losses)
Share Based 

payment
Foreign currency 

translation 

Total other 
comprehensive 

income

Retained 
earnings

Net income
Equity attributable 
to equity holders of 

the parent

Non-controlling 
interest

Total Equity

As at March 31, 2015 Published 2 642 252 023 14 173 (1 140) (411) 488 (14) (1 078) 2 467 42 100 312 327 (8) 312 319
Application of IFRIC 21 357 5 362 362
As at March 31, 2015 Restated 2 642 252 023 14 173 (1 140) (411) 488 (14) (1 078) 2 824 42 105 312 689 (8) 312 681
Net income attribution - - - 411 (488) - (77) 42 182 (42 105) - - -
Net income for the period - - - - - - - - - 38 630 38 630 (219) 38 411
Other comprehensive income - - - 679 (26) - (26) 628 - - 628 - 628
Total comprehensive income - - - 679 (26) - (26) 628 - 38 630 39 258 (219) 39 039
Capital contribution without issue - 14 464 - - - - - - - - 14 464 - 14 464
Adjustment on dividend paid - (12) - - - - - - 12 - - - -
Redemption of MRPS - - (14 173) - - - - - (291) - (14 464) - (14 464)
Issued capital attributable to NCI - - - - - - - - - - - 123 123
As at March 31, 2016 2 642 266 476 - (461) (26) - (40) (527) 44 725 38 630 351 946 (104) 351 842

Net income attribution - - - 26 - 26 38 604 (38 630) - - -
Net income for the period - - - - - - - - - 97 934 97 934 (289) 97 645
Other comprehensive income - - - 462 (147) - 56 371 - - 371 - 371
Total comprehensive income - - - 462 (147) - 56 371 - 97 934 98 305 (289) 98 016
Capital contribution without issue - - - - - - - - - - - -
Adjustment on dividend paid - - - - - - - - - - - -
Redemption of MRPS - - - - - - - - - - -
Issued capital attributable to NCI - - - - - - - - 327 - 327 (63) 264
Other - (291) - - - - - - 291 - - - -
As at March 31, 2017 2 642 266 185 - 0 (147) - 16 (131) 83 943 97 934 450 573 (456) 450 117
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Consolidated	Statement	of	Cash	Flows	

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements 

In thousand of € March 31, 2017 March 31, 2016

Notes
Operating activities
Operating profit 167 367 156 812
Depreciation and impairment of property, plant and equipment 29 580 30 151
Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets 4 271 4 698
Share-based transaction expense 7.3 - -
(Gain) /loss on disposal of property, plant and equipement 1 214 1 090
Other non cash operating items (1 855) (1 526)
Movements in provisions and pensions 402 406
Interest received 109 137
Dividends received from associate 8 188 188
Income tax paid (39 769) (38 546)
Operating cash flows before change in working capital requirements 161 507 153 410
Change in inventory (8 252) (4 508)
Change in trade and other receivables and prepayments (7 711) (9 285)
Change in trade and other payables  4 185 13 106
Net cash flows from operating activities, total 149 729 152 723

Investing activities
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 365 226
Disposal of Italy, net of cash disposed of 379 177
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (30 464) (31 240)
Purchase of intangible assets (7 763) (4 140)
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired - -
Purchase of financial instruments (122) 55
Proceeds from sale of financial instruments - -
Proceeds from loans - -
Net cash used in investing activities (37 606) (34 922)

Financing activities
Payment of finance lease liabilities (253) (261)
Proceeds from borrowings - -
Refinancing costs - -
Repayment of borrowings (50 000) -
Loans granted - -
MRPs reimbursement - -
Dividends paid to equity holder of the parent - -
Interest paid (69 681) (68 681)
Other cash items related to financing activities (8 437)
Capital increase - non controlling interests 264 123
Net cash flows from/(used in) financing activities (119 670) (77 256)

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (7 547) 40 545
Net cash at the beginning of the year 122 591 82 047
Net cash at March 31 16 115 045 122 591

of which classified in held for sale 24 - -
of which classified in continued operations 115 045 122 591



Picard Bondco S.A Page 20 

Notes	to	the	Consolidated	Financial	Statements	

1. Corporate information

Picard Bondco S.A. (previously named Lion Polaris Lux 2 S.A.) is a limited liability company, 
incorporated on August 9, 2010 and having its registered office in Luxembourg. The 
registered office of Picard Bondco S.A. is at 7 rue Lou-Hemmer, L-1748 Luxembourg-Findel. 
Picard Bondco S.A. is an affiliate (fully controlled) of Picard Pikco (which merged with Lion 
Polaris Lux 1 S.à.r.l in June, 2015). 

Picard Bondco S.A. was incorporated for the purpose of acquiring Picard Groupe S.A.S., the 
leader in the frozen food production and distribution business in France. The acquisition was 
completed on October 14, 2010. 

Picard Bondco S.A. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) operate in 
the frozen food production and distribution business, mainly in France. The Group’s financial 
year ends on March 31.  

On June 19, 2017, the Board approved the consolidated financial statements as of and for the 
year ended March 31, 2017, which will be submitted for approval to the Company’s 
shareholders. 

2. Accounting principles

2.1 Basis of preparation 

The consolidated financial statements cover the financial year starting April 1, 2016 and 
ended March 31, 2017. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a 
historical cost basis, except for derivative financial instruments that have been measured at 
fair value. The consolidated financial statements are presented in euro and all values are 
rounded to the nearest thousand (€000) except where otherwise indicated.  

Going concern 

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. 

Statement of compliance 

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”), and as adopted by the European Union and effective 
for financial years beginning on or after April 1, 2016.  

IFRS as adopted by the European Union can be viewed on the European Commission’s 
website (http://ec.europa.eu/internal_market/accounting/ias/index_en.htm). 
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2.1.1 New accounting standards and interpretations in effect starting from April 1, 
2016 

 
Since April 1, 2016, the Group has applied the following new amendments, standards, and 
interpretations previously endorsed by the European Union:  
 

 Amendments to IAS 19 – Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions; 
 Amendments to IAS 1 – Disclosure Initiative; 
 Amendments to IFRS 11 - Acquisition of an Interest in a Joint Operation; 
 Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38 – Clarification of Acceptable Methods of 

Depreciation and Amortisation; 
 IFRS Annual Improvements 2012-2014 Cycle.  

 

The adoption of these policies had no significant impact on the Group’s financial statements. 

 

2.1.2 New accounting standards and interpretations with effect in future periods 

 
The new standards and interpretations endorsed by the European Union not yet mandatorily 
applicable are as follows:  
 
All these amendments will be effective after April 1, 2017 for the Group and the potential 
impacts of these new pronouncements are currently being analyzed. 
 
The new or amended standards and interpretations adopted by the European Union are as 
follows: 
 IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments and amendments to IFRS 9, IFRS 7 and IAS 39 – 

Hedge Accounting (applicable according to the IASB in annual periods beginning on 
or after January 1, 2018);   

 IFRS 15 – Revenues from Contracts with Customers and the Clarifications to IFRS 15 
published in April 2016 (applicable according to the IASB in accounting periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2018);   

 Amendments to IAS 12 – Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses 
(applicable according to the IASB in accounting periods beginning on or after January 
1, 2017);  

 Amendments to IFRS4 - Applying IFRS9 Financial Instruments with IFRS4 Insurance 
Contracts (applicable according to the IASB in accounting periods beginning on or 
after January 1, 2017). 

 Amendment to IFRS 12 - Clarification of the Scope of the Standard (applicable 
according to the IASB in accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017); 

 Amendments to IAS 7 – Disclosure Initiative (applicable according to the IASB in 
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017). 
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The new or amended standards and interpretations not yet adopted by the European Union are 
as follows: 
 
 Amendments  to  IFRS  2  –  Classification  and  Measurement  of  Share-based  

Payment  Transactions  (applicable according to the IASB in accounting periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2018); 

 IFRS 16 – Leases (applicable according to the IASB in annual periods beginning on or 
after January 1, 2019);  

 Annual Improvements to IFRS – Cycle 2014-2016 (applicable according to the IASB 
in accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018); 

 IFRIC 22 – Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration (applicable 
according to the IASB in accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018); 

 Amendments to IAS 40 – Transfers of Investment Property (applicable according to 
the IASB in accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018). 
 

The impact of these standards on the Group’s results and financial situation is currently being 
evaluated. 

 

2.2 Summary of significant accounting policies 
 

a. Foreign currency translation 

 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in euros (€), which is the Company’s 
functional and the Group’s presentation currency.  

 
b. Business combinations and goodwill 

 

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration 
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair value of the assets transferred, the 
liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the 
Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting 
from a contingent consideration arrangement. 

For each business combination, the non-controlling interest in the acquiree is measured either 
at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Acquisition 
costs incurred are expensed and included in “Other operating expenses”. 

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying value of the 
acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the 
acquisition date through profit or loss. 
 
Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group is recognized at fair value at the 
acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration which is 
deemed to be an asset or liability, is recognized in accordance with IAS 36 either in profit or 
loss or as a change to “Other comprehensive income”. If the contingent consideration is 
classified as equity, it is not remeasured until it is finally settled within equity. 
Goodwill is initially measured at cost being the excess of the aggregate of (i) the 
consideration transferred and (ii) the fair value of non-controlling interest and the identifiable 
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assets acquired net of liabilities assumed. If the consideration is lower than the fair value of 
the net identifiable assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised in profit or 
loss.  

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. 
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from 
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units or group of cash-
generating units that are expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether 
other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units. 

Under the definition of IAS 36, the Group identified cash-generating units, and group of cash-
generating units, which are defined in Note 2.2.n. 
 

c. Investment in associate 

 

The Group’s investment in its associate is accounted for using the equity method. An 
associate is an entity in which the Group has significant influence. 

Under the equity method, the investment in the associate is carried in the statement of 
financial position at cost plus post acquisition changes in the Group’s share of net assets of 
the associate. Goodwill relating to the associate is included in the carrying amount of the 
investment and is neither amortised nor individually tested for impairment. 

The income statement reflects the Group’s share of the results of operations of the associate. 
Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and the associate 
are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the associate. 

The share of profit of the associate is shown on the face of the income statement on the line 
“Share of profit in an associate”. This is the profit attributable to equity holders of the 
associate and therefore is profit after tax and non-controlling interests in the subsidiaries of 
the associates. 

The financial statements of the associate are prepared for the same reporting period as the 
Company and using the same accounting policies. Where necessary, adjustments are made to 
bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group. 

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to 
recognize an additional impairment loss on the Group’s investment in its associate. The 
Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that the 
investment in the associate is impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of 
impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying 
value and recognises the amount in the income statement. 

 
d. Revenue recognition 

 
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to 
the Group and the revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of 
the consideration received, excluding discounts, rebates, and sales taxes or duty. The 
following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised: 
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Sale of goods 

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of 
ownership of the goods have passed to the customer, usually on purchase of the goods by the 
customer.  
The Group operates a chain of retail outlets for selling their products. Sales of goods are 
recognized when an entity sells a product to the customer. Retail sales are usually in cash or 
by credit card.  

 

Dividends 

Revenue is recognised when the Group’s right to receive the payment is established. 
 

e. Operating expenses & other purchases and external expenses 

 

The Group benefits from certain tax credits generated by its activity. Such tax credits are 
deemed to be equivalent to grants related to income and are thus deducted from related 
expenses.   

In order to align the presentation of the Consolidated Income Statement with industry best 
practices, the Group classifies loss and gift of goods expense and discounts granted under 
corporation agreements credit under the “Cost of Goods sold” line item. 
 

f. Income taxes 

 

Current income tax 

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the 
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax 
laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted, by the 
reporting date, in the countries where the Group operates and generates taxable income. 

As of March 31, 2016 and March 31, 2017, French tax Business Contribution on Added 
Value (‘CVAE’) is shown and accounted for under the “Income tax expense” line. 

 

Deferred income tax 

Deferred taxes are determined using the liability method on temporary differences at the 
reporting date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the 
consolidated financial statements. 

Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of 
unused tax credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit 
will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of 
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised except for specific conditions (initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination that 
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss). 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in 
the year in which the asset is realized or the liability settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) 
that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 
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Deferred taxes relating to items recognized outside profit or loss are recognized outside profit 
or loss. Deferred tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in 
other comprehensive income or directly in equity. 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to 
offset current tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to 
the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority. 

 

g. Pensions and other post-employment benefits 

 

The Group operates one defined benefit pension scheme, as detailed in Note 21. The cost of 
providing benefits under the defined benefit plan is determined using the projected unit credit 
method. Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive income in the 
period in which they occur. 

The defined benefit asset or liability comprises the present value of the defined benefit 
obligation (using a discount rate based on high quality corporate bonds, as explained in Note 
21).  

The defined benefit expense is recognized through “Personnel expenses” (under pension 
costs) for the service cost component of the expense and through “Finance costs” (under 
interest costs of employee benefits) for the interest cost component. 

 

h. Financial liabilities – initial recognition and subsequent measurement 

 

Initial recognition and measurement 

The Group determines the classification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition. The 
Group has not designated any financial liabilities upon initial recognition as at fair value 
through profit or loss. Financial liabilities within the scope of IAS 39 are classified as loans 
and borrowings, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as 
appropriate.  

All financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and in the case of loans and 
borrowings, net of directly attributable transaction costs. 

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, bank overdraft, loans and 
borrowings, and derivative financial instruments. 

 

Subsequent measurement 

The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows: 

Loans and borrowings 

After initial recognition, interest bearing loans and borrowings are measured at amortized cost 
using the effective interest rate method. Gains and losses are recognized in the income 
statement when the liabilities are derecognized as well as through the effective interest rate 
method (EIR) amortization process.  
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Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition 
and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortization is included in 
finance cost in the income statement. 

Derecognition 

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or 
cancelled or expired. 

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on 
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, 
such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the 
recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is 
recognized in the income statement through “Finance costs”. 

 

Fair value of financial instruments 

The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active markets at each reporting date 
is determined by reference to quoted market prices or dealer price quotations (bid price for 
long positions and ask price for short positions), without any deduction for transaction costs.  

For financial instruments not traded in an active market, the fair value is determined using 
appropriate valuation techniques. Such techniques may include using recent arm’s length 
market transactions, reference to the current fair value of another instrument that is 
substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis or other valuation models.  

An analysis of fair values of financial instruments and further details as to how they are 
measured are provided in Note 12. 
 

i. Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting 

 

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement 

The Group uses interest rate swaps to hedge its interest rate risks. Such derivative financial 
instruments are initially recognized at fair value on the date on which the derivative contract 
is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as 
financial assets when the fair value is positive and as financial liabilities when the fair value is 
negative. 

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value on derivatives are recognized in the 
income statement, except for the effective portion of cash flow hedges, which is recognized in 
other comprehensive income.  

For the purpose of hedge accounting, those derivatives that meet the criteria of hedge 
effectiveness are classified as cash flow hedges. 

Hedges which meet the strict criteria for hedge accounting are accounted for as follows:  

Fair value hedges 

The change in the fair value of a hedging derivative is recognized in the income statement. 
The change in the fair value of the hedged item attributable to the risk hedged is recorded as a 
part of the carrying value of the hedged item and is also recognized in the income statement.  
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For fair value hedges relating to items carried at amortized cost, the adjustment to carrying 
value is amortized through the income statement over the remaining term to maturity. 
Amortization may begin as soon as an adjustment exists and shall begin no later than when 
the hedged item ceases to be adjusted for changes in its fair value attributable to the risk being 
hedged.  

If the hedge item is derecognized, the unamortized fair value is recognized immediately in the 
income statement. When an unrecognized firm commitment is designated as a hedged item, 
the subsequent cumulative change in the fair value of the firm commitment attributable to the 
hedged risk is recognized as an asset or liability with a corresponding gain or loss recognized 
in the income statement.  

As at March 31, 2017, the Group did not have any fair value hedging derivatives. 

Cash flow hedges 

The effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognized directly in 
equity, while any ineffective portion is recognized immediately in the income statement.  

Amounts taken to equity are transferred to the income statement when the hedged transaction 
affects profit or loss, such as when the hedged financial income or financial expense is 
recognized or when a forecast sale occurs. Where the hedged item is the cost of a non-
financial asset or non-financial liability, the amounts taken to equity are transferred to the 
initial carrying amount of the non-financial asset or liability.  

If the forecast transaction or firm commitment is no longer expected to occur, amounts 
previously recognized in equity are transferred to the income statement. If the hedging 
instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised without replacement or rollover, or if its 
designation as a hedge is revoked, amounts previously recognized in equity remain in equity 
until the forecast transaction or firm commitment occurs.  

Refer to Note 12.3 for more details about the Group’s interest rate swaps contract as at 
March 31, 2017 (hedges of the Group’s exposure to interest rate risks). 

 

j. Property, plant and equipment 

 

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and/or 
accumulated impairment losses, if any. Land is not depreciated. Historical cost includes 
expenditures directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. 

 

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset as 
follows: 

a. Buildings and building improvements 20  years 
b. Operating equipment   5 to 10 years 
c. Transportation equipment   4  years 
d. Computers and hardware   3 to 5 years 
e. Furniture   10  years 

 

An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part initially recognized is 
derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or 
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disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the 
income statement in the line item “Other operating expenses”.  

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation are reviewed at each 
financial year end, and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate. 

 

k. Leases 

 

Finance leases, which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and benefits incidental 
to ownership of the leased item, are capitalized at the commencement of the lease at the fair 
value of the leased property or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. 

 

Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease liability 
so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance 
charges are recognized in the income statement in the line “Finance costs”. 

Leased assets are depreciated over the useful life of the asset. However, if there is no 
reasonable certainty that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, the 
asset is depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset and the lease term. 

Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense in the income statement on a straight- 
-line basis over the lease term. 

 

l. Intangible assets 

 

Trademarks 

Trademarks acquired through business combination are not amortized when their useful lives 
are deemed to be indefinite.  

Trademarks which are not amortized are tested for impairment annually and upon each 
indication that they may be impaired. 

The useful lives of trademarks have been defined according to their strategic market position 
(for instance, a strong international trademark will be deemed to have an indefinite useful life). 

As at March 31, 2017 the trademark recognized corresponds to the Picard brand. 
 
Leasehold rights 

Leasehold rights are constituted by sums paid to the owners of the leasehold (the former 
tenants) at the opening of new stores. Gross values recorded on the Consolidated Statement of 
Financial Position are stated at cost. Because of the legal protection attached in France to 
leasehold rights, the Group does not amortize these intangible assets. 

Leasehold rights which are not amortized are tested for impairment annually and upon each 
indication that it may be impaired. 
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Software 

Software acquired by the Group is booked as an intangible asset at its original cost. It is 
depreciated under the straight-line method over a maximum period of 3 years. 

Software developed by the Group for its internal use is recorded as an intangible asset at its 
development cost and is depreciated under the straight-line method over a maximum period of 
3 years. 

 

m. Inventory 

 

Inventory is valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost is determined under the 
weighted average cost method, which does not generate a significant difference from the 
FIFO method. 

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less 
estimated costs necessary to make the sale. 

An inventory impairment is recorded in the following cases:  

- 50%: on frozen (and not frozen) products permanently deleted from the catalog but 
which are disposed of in the stores;  

- 75%: on products whose inventory quantities are higher than the sales forecasts in the 
expected time-to-market (Group decision), 

- 75%: on products likely to be impaired due to the regulations of sales period 
- 100%: on unmarketable products definitively deleted from the catalog. 

 

n. Impairment of non-financial assets 
 
Cash-generating units (CGU) 
 
A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows 
that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets. 
 
The cash-generating unit is defined by Management as the store, with two main groups of 
cash-generating units, based on geographical implantation in: 
 France 
 Other 

 
The “Other” operating segment includes distribution activities in Belgium, Luxembourg, and 
Sweden, franchised operations and partnerships in Italy, Switzerland, UK and Japan as well as 
our holding company operations (other than Group financing and income taxes) in 
Luxembourg. 
 
Impairment analysis 
 

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be 
impaired. If any such indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is 
required, the Group estimates the asset’s recoverable amount.  
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An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s (CGU) fair 
value less costs to sell and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the 
asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or 
groups of assets. Where the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable 
amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. In 
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value 
using a discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and 
the risks specific to the asset. 
 
The Group bases its impairment calculation on detailed budgets and forecast calculations 
which are prepared separately for each of the groups of cash-generating units to which the 
individual assets are allocated. These budgets and forecast calculations generally cover a 
period of five years. For longer periods, a long term growth rate is calculated and applied to 
project future cash flows after the fifth year. 

In determining fair value less costs to sell, recent market transactions are taken into account, if 
available. If no such transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used.  

For assets excluding goodwill and other indefinite useful life intangible assets (trademark), an 
assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously 
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication 
exists, the Group estimates the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s recoverable amount.  

Goodwill 

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually at year end and when circumstances indicate that 
the carrying value may be impaired. 

Impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing the recoverable amount of each cash-
generating unit or group of cash-generating units to which the goodwill relates. Where the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units is less than 
their carrying amount an impairment loss is recognised. Impairment losses relating to 
goodwill cannot be reversed in future periods.  

Other intangible assets 

Other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives (brand and leasehold rights) are tested for 
impairment annually either individually or at the cash generating unit or group of cash-
generating units level, as appropriate and when circumstances indicate that the carrying value 
may be impaired. 

 

o. Cash and cash equivalents 
 

Cash and cash equivalents in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position comprise cash 
at banks and on hand, short-term deposits and highly liquid securities with an original 
maturity of three months or less. 

For the purpose of the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents 
consist of cash, short-term deposits and highly liquid securities as defined above, net of 
outstanding bank overdrafts. 
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p. Provisions  

 

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a 
result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits 
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of 
the obligation. 

 

q. Assets and liabilities held for sale 

 

IFRS 5, Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations, sets out the 
accounting treatment applicable to assets held for sale and presentation and disclosure 
requirements. The standard notably requires the separate presentation of assets held for sale in 
the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position at the lower of net carrying amount and fair 
value less costs to sell, where the criteria set-out in the standard are satisfied. Should an 
unrealized loss be recorded, it is not deductible for tax purposes. 

When the Group is committed to a sales process leading to the loss of control of a subsidiary, 
all assets and liabilities of that subsidiary are reclassified as held for sale where the standard 
classification criteria are met, irrespective of whether the Group retains a residual interest in 
the entity after sale. 

 

3. Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions 

 

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires management to 
make judgments, estimates and assumptions that can affect the reported amounts of revenues, 
expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the end of the 
reporting period. Group management reviews these estimates and assumptions on a regular 
basis to ensure that they are appropriate based on past experience and current economic 
condition. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in 
outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability 
affected in future periods. 

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimating uncertainty at 
the reporting date that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below. 

 

Impairment of non-financial assets 

An impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash generating unit exceeds its 
recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. 
The fair value less costs to sell calculation is based on available data from binding sales 
transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar assets or observable market prices less 
incremental costs for disposing of the asset. The value in use calculation is based on a 
discounted cash flow model. The cash flows are derived from the budget. The recoverable 
amount is mostly sensitive to the discount rate used for the discounted cash flow model as 
well as the expected future cash-inflows and the growth rate used for extrapolation purposes. 
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Further details about assumptions and sensitivity of valuations are disclosed in Note 13. 

 

Employee benefits liabilities 

The cost of defined benefit pension plans and the present value of the pension obligation are 
determined using actuarial valuations. An actuarial valuation involves making various 
assumptions. These include the determination of the discount rate, future salary increases, 
mortality rates and future withdrawal rates of employees. Due to the complexity of the 
valuation, the underlying assumptions and its long term nature, a defined benefit obligation is 
highly sensitive to changes in these assumptions. All assumptions are reviewed at each 
reporting date.  

In determining the appropriate discount rate, management considers the interest rates of 
corporate bonds with high quality ratings, with extrapolated maturities corresponding to the 
expected duration of the defined benefit obligation.  

The mortality rate is based on a publicly available mortality table. Future salary increases and 
expected turnover rates of employees are based on the expectation of management and on past 
practices over recent years. 

Further details about the assumptions used are given in Note 21. 

Deferred income tax  

Deferred tax assets are recognized for all unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that 
taxable profit will be available against which the losses can be utilized. Significant 
management judgment is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be 
recognized, based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits.  

The assessment of the Group’s ability to utilize tax losses carried forward is to a large extent 
judgment-based. If the future taxable results of the Group are significantly different from 
those expected, the Group will be obliged to increase or decrease the carrying amount of 
deferred tax assets, with a potentially material impact on the Consolidated Statement of 
Financial Position and Consolidated Income Statement of the Group. 

 
4. Financial risk management objectives and policies  

 

The Group’s principal financial liabilities, other than derivatives, comprise loans and 
borrowings, trade and other payables. The main purpose of these financial liabilities is to raise 
finances for the Group’s operations. The Group has loans and other receivables, trade and 
other receivables, and cash and short-term deposits that arrive directly from its operations. 

The Group is exposed to market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.  

The Group’s senior management oversees the management of these risks. The Board of 
Directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks which are summarized 
below. 

It is the Group’s policy that no trading in derivatives for speculative purposes shall be 
undertaken. 
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Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Financial instruments affected by market risk 
include loans and borrowings (including listed bonds), deposits, and derivative financial 
instruments.  

 

Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument 
will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Group’s exposure to the risk of 
changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s long-term debt obligations 
with floating interest rates. Below is presented the sensibility to interest rate variation: 

 

 

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial 
instrument or customer contract, leading to a financial loss.  

Considering its activity, the Group is only exposed to limited credit risk from operating 
activities. Furthermore, the Group is not exposed to material credit risk from its financing 
activities (deposits with banks and financial institutions and other financial instruments) as 
investments of surplus funds are made only with approved counterparties.  

The Group’s policy to manage this risk is to place funds only with banks which have strong 
credit ratings. 
 
Liquidity risk 

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a recurring liquidity planning tool.  

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility 
through the use of bank overdrafts, bank loans, debentures, and finance leases. 0.9 % of the 
Group’s interest bearing loans and borrowings maturing less than one year after March 31, 
2017 based on the carrying value of borrowings reflected in the financial statements. 

 

Maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities 

The table below summarizes the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities based on 
contractual undiscounted payments at the maturity date. 

 

In thousands of €

Year ended 31 March 2017
P&L Impact OCI Impact P&L Impact OCI Impact

Floating rate debt (1 544) - 1 544 -
(1 544) - 1 544 -

Sensitivity to +20bps change Sensitivity to -20bps change
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5. Significant events of the financial year ended March 31, 2017 
 

On May 3, 2016, Picard Groupe S.A.S. redeemed an amount of M€ 50 of its M€ 822 
outstanding floating rate senior secured notes. Refer to Note 12.2. Interest-bearing loans and 
borrowings. 

The exceptional contribution on corporate income tax introduced in 2012 was discontinued as 
of December 31, 2016, reducing our income tax rate from 38% to 34.43%. Additionally, 
further to the 2017 Budget Act, the French corporate income tax rate will decrease from 
34.43% to 28.92% starting in 2020. Long term deferred taxes were consequently revalued to 
reflect this reduction in the future income tax rate. (See § Note 9 Income tax expense). 

 

6. Operating segment information 
 

For management purposes, the Group is organized into business units based on distribution 
networks. Following the development of the activity of the Group in Belgium, Sweden and 
Luxembourg, the Group has two reportable operating segments as follows: 

 France 
 Other  

 
The “Other” operating segment includes distribution activities in Belgium, Luxembourg, and 
Sweden, franchised operations and partnerships in Italy, Switzerland, UK and Japan as well as 
our holding company operations (other than Group financing and income taxes) in 
Luxembourg. 

Management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of 
making decisions about resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment 
performance is evaluated based on operating profit or loss and is measured consistently with 
operating profit or loss in the consolidated financial statements. However, Group financing 
(including finance costs and finance income) and income taxes are managed on a group basis 
and are not allocated to operating segments. 

 

 

 

In thousands of €

Year ended 31 March 2017
Less than one 

year
1 to 5 
years

over 5 
years

Total

Fixed rate borrowings (33 170) (494 340) - (527 510)
Obligations under finance lease (234) (672) - (906)
Floating rate borrowings (33 266) (821 762) - (855 028)
Trade and other payables (234 672) - - (234 672)

(301 342) (1 316 774) - (1 618 116)

In thousand of € France Other Total In thousand of € France Other Total

Sales 1 365 779 32 251 1 398 030 Sales 1 343 091 28 880 1 371 971
Operating profit 171 676 (4 309) 167 367 Operating profit 163 090 (6 277) 156 812

March 31, 2017 March 31, 2016
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7. Other operating income/expenses 
 

7.1. Other operating income 

 

 
 

7.2. Other operating expenses 
   

 

 

7.3. Personnel expenses 

 

 
For the year ended on March 31, 2017, social security costs include income of K€ 6 093 
(compared to income of K€ 5 688 as of March 31, 2016) corresponding to the CICE (Crédit 
d’Impôt Compétitivité Emploi) in effect in France since January 1, 2013. 

  

In thousand of € March 31, 2017 March 31, 2016

Capitalized expenses 1 356 732
Other operating income 3 613 4 713
Total other operating income 4 969 5 445

In thousand of € March 31, 2017 March 31, 2016

Royalties (472) (442)
Losses on bad debt (906) (1 133)
Other operating expenses (344) (581)
Total other operating expenses (1 722) (2 156)

In thousand of € March 31, 2017 March 31, 2016

Wages and salaries (112 148) (111 674)
Social security costs (31 166) (33 348)
Pension costs (402) (430)
Employee profit sharing (16 488) (14 682)
Other employee benefits expenses (4 872) (5 090)
Total personnel expenses (165 076) (165 224)
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7.4. Finance income and costs 
 

 

 
A gain of M€ 956 has been recognized in the twelve-month period ended March 31, 2017 
with regards to the ineffectiveness on the swap instruments aimed at hedging the Group’s 
exposure to changes in future interest cash flows linked to the floating-rate senior secured 
notes. 

Consistently with IAS39.AG8, the impact on the Consolidated Income Statement of the M€ 
50 early redemption of the floating-rate senior secured notes (reflecting the write off of the 
non-amortized issuance fees) had already been recognized in the income statement of the 
financial year ended March 31, 2016 (financial expense amounting to M€ 0.6 recognized in 
the quarter ended March 31, 2016). 

 

8. Investment in an associate 

The Group has a 37.21% interest in Primex International S.A., which is involved in 
importation and wholesale of frozen meat and seafood. 
 

Primex International is a private entity incorporated in France that is not listed on any public 
exchange. The following table illustrates summarised financial information of the Group’s 
investment in Primex International S.A.: 

 

In thousand of € March 31, 2017 March 31, 2016

Interest expenses (72 650) (74 263)
Non-recurring interest expense (644)
Hedging relationships - Ineffectiveness 956 (956)
Interest costs of employee benefits (101) (91)
Foreign exchange losses (25) (19)
Other financial expenses (756) (579)

Finance costs (72 576) (76 552)

Income on loans and receivables 19 20
Income on short term investment 109 138
Other financial income 15 15

Finance income 143 173
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Variations during the period were the following: 

 

 

 

9. Income tax expense 

 

 
 

Income tax expense decreased from K€ 42,592 for the year ended March 31, 2016 to a credit 
of K€ 2,163 for the year ended March 31, 2017 mainly as a result of the decrease of long-term 
deferred tax liabilities following the reduction in the corporate income tax rate in France, 
voted in the 2017 Budget Act and which brings the income tax rate to 28.92% starting in 2020. 
Long-term deferred taxes (essentially related to trademarks) were revalued based on the 
income tax rate applicable as of 2020. The impact of this revaluation (tax credit of K€ 45,785) 
was recorded in March 31, 2017. Excluding this impact, income tax expense for the year 
ended March 31, 2017 would have been K€ 43,622. 

In thousand of € March 31, 2017 March 31, 2016

Share of the associate’s statement of financial 
position:

Non-current assets 2 365 201
Current assets 12 597 13 432
Current liabilities 4 024 3 189
Equity 10 938 10 445

Share of the associate’s revenue and profit:

Revenue 29 317 29 317

Profits 548 570

Carrying amount of the investment 10 957 10 597

In thousand of € March 31, 2017 March 31, 2016

Carrying value at opening 10 597 10 215

Share of profit in an associate 548 570
Distribution of dividends (188) (188)

Carrying value as of March 31 10 957 10 597

In thousand of €

For the twelve 
months period 

ended March 31, 
2017

For the twelve 
months period 

ended March 31, 
2016

Current tax (45 920) (45 191)
Deferred tax 48 084 2 599

Total income tax expense 2 163 (42 592)

Income tax recognized in other comprehensive income (356) (343)

Total income tax 1 807 (42 935)
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A reconciliation between tax expense and accounting profit (based on France’s domestic tax 
rate for the year ended March 31, 2017, France being the country where most of the taxable 
income is generated) is as follows: 

 

 

 

The Italian tax authorities conducted a tax audit of Picard Surgelati concerning the years 
ended March 31, 2009 to March 31, 2012. The company received tax reassessments for these 
four years that we challenged before the provincial court of Varese. The court issued a ruling 
in company’s favour for the years ended March 31, 2009 to March 31, 2012. The Italian tax 
authorities appealed the decisions regarding the years ended March 31, 2009 and March 31, 
2010, but the Regional Commission confirmed the decisions of the court of Varese in June 
2016. In January 2017, the Italian tax authorities appealed to the court of cassation against this 
decision.  

  

In thousand of €

For the twelve 
months period 

ended March 31, 
2017

For the twelve 
months period 

ended March 31, 
2016

Income before tax 95 482 81 003
At French statutory income tax rate of 34.43% (32 875) (27 889)
Effect of non taxable financial income 44 (88)
Effect of non deductible expenses/taxable income: (6 029) (9 628)
 - Share of profit in associate 189 196
- Non deductible interests in France (7 422) (7 877)
 - Other non taxable income 2 459 2 138
- Other non deductible expenses (1 255) (4 086)

Unrecognised tax losses (552) (857)
Effect of CVAE expense (4 407) (4 328)
Amortization of deferred tax related to CVAE 196 198
Change in tax rate 45 785 -
Total income tax expense 2 163 (42 592)
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Deferred tax 

Deferred tax relates to the following: 

 

 
 

10. Other intangible assets 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

In thousand of € March 31, 2017 March 31, 2016
Variation

Of which, 
through P&L

Of which 
through OCI

Intangible assets - Picard brand (225 576) (268 554) 42 978 42 978 -
Other intangible assets (2 574) (3 064) 490 490 -
Property and Equipement (33 761) (36 290) 2 529 2 529 -
Inventories (310) (316) 6 6 -
Financial instruments (3 854) (4 842) 988 1 231 (243)
Long term Employee benefits 2 506 2 442 64 178 (114)
Profit sharing 5 316 5 358 (42) (42) -
Tax rate changes -
Other temporary differences 151 (563) 714 714 -

Deferred Tax asset/(liability) (258 102) (305 829) 47 727 48 084 (357)

Reflected in the statement of financial 
position as follows :

Deferred tax assets - -

Deferred tax liabilities (258 102) (305 829)

Deferred Tax asset/(liability) (258 102) (305 829)

In thousand of € Software Brand Leasehold rights 
Other intangible 

assets
Total intangible 

assets

Cost:
As at 31 March 2015 33 042 780 000 47 484 479 861 005
Addition 1 900 - 693 3 589 6 182
Disposals - - (534) (1 878) (2 412)
Assets held for sale - - - - -
As at 31 March 2016 34 942 780 000 47 643 2 190 864 775
Addition 5 163 - 463 2 518 8 144
Disposals (549) - (245) (794)
Assets held for sale - - - - -
As at 31 March 2017 39 556 780 000 47 861 4 708 872 125

Depreciation and impairment:
As at 31 March 2015 (21 764) - (527) (20) (22 311)
Additions (4 555) - - (5) (4 560)
Disposals - - - 96 96
Assets held for sale - - - -
As at 31 March 2016 (26 319) - (527) 71 (26 775)
Additions (4 226) - - (71) (4 297)
Disposals 303 - 1 304
Assets held for sale - - - -
As at 31 March 2017 (30 242) - (526) - (30 768)

Net book value:
As at 31 March 2015 11 278 780 000 46 957 459 838 694
As at 31 March 2016 8 623 780 000 47 116 2 261 838 000
As at 31 March 2017 9 314 780 000 47 335 4 708 841 357
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11. Property, plant and equipment 
  

 

 

12. Financial assets and financial liabilities 
 

12.1. Other financial assets 
 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

In thousand of € Land Buildings

Technical fittings 
Machinery and 

equipment
Other tangible 

assets
Total tangible  

assets

Cost:
As at 31 March 2015 38 346 44 404 184 183 204 396 471 329
Additions 500 18 152 41 040 59 692
Disposals (16) (482) (8 145) (34 529) (43 172)
Assets held for sale -
As at 31 March 2016 38 330 44 422 194 190 210 907 487 849
Additions 386 17 314 13 051 30 751
Disposals (12) (783) (8 328) (4 079) (13 202)
Assets held for sale -
As at 31 March 2017 38 318 44 025 203 176 219 879 505 398

Depreciation and impairment:
As at 31 March 2015 - (19 650) (108 096) (119 226) (246 972)
Additions - (1 197) (14 792) (11 000) (26 989)
Disposals - 315 7 309 3 040 10 664
Assets held for sale - - - - -
As at 31 March 2016 - (20 532) (115 579) (127 186) (263 297)
Additions - (1 284) (14 446) (13 454) (29 184)
Disposals - 734 7 759 3 237 11 730
Assets held for sale - - - - -
As at 31 March 2017 - (21 082) (122 266) (137 403) (280 751)

Net book value:
As at 31 March 2015 38 346 24 754 76 087 85 170 224 357
As at 31 March 2016 38 330 23 890 78 611 83 721 224 552
As at 31 March 2017 38 318 22 943 80 910 82 476 224 647

In thousand of € As at March 31, 2017 As at March 31, 2016

Deposits and guarantees 11 722 12 019
Related party loans* 254 235
Other 1 200 1 579
Other financial assets 13 176 13 833
Of which non-current 12 797 13 454
Of which current 379 379
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12.2. Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 
 

  

On August 1, 2013, Picard Groupe S.A.S., a subsidiary of the Company, issued M€480 of 
floating rate senior secured notes due 2019. These floating rate senior secured notes are 
payable after 6 years on August 1, 2019,  and interest is paid quarterly based on a variable 
interest rate fixed in reference to a market rate (3-month Euribor) increased by a margin of 
4.25%. The floating rate senior secured notes are refundable “in fine”.  

On the same date, Picard Groupe S.A.S. entered into a €30 m Revolving Credit Facility. 

On February 20, 2015, Picard Groupe S.A.S., a subsidiary of the Company, issued M€342 of 
additional floating rate senior secured notes due 2019. These floating rate senior secured notes 
are payable after 4 years on August 1, 2019, and interest is paid quarterly based on an variable 
interest rate fixed in reference to a market rate (3-month Euribor) increased by a margin of 
4.25%. The additional floating rate senior secured notes are refundable “in fine”.  

On February 20, 2015, the Company issued M€428 of fixed rate senior notes due 2020. These 
senior notes are payable after 5 years on February 1, 2020, and interest is paid twice a year 
based on a fixed interest rate of 7.75%. The senior notes are refundable “in fine”.  

 
As of March 31, 2017, the Revolving Credit Facility was not drawn. 

An early redemption of the floating rate senior secured notes for an amount of M€50 was 
notified to the bondholders before fiscal year end closing and made on May 3, 2016. Such 
amount has been reclassified as current at March 31, 2016. 

Financial instruments contracts ended over the year, which terminated the accounting hedge 
relationship. The financial impact of this termination was booked in net income. 
  

In thousand of € Coupon interest rate Maturity As at March 31, 2017 As at March 31, 2016

Current
Obligations under finance leases 234 261
Current portion of interest bearing loans and borrowings 10 814 61 581
Bank overdrafts On demand - 3
Total current interest bearing loans and borrowings 11 048 61 845

Non current
Obligations under finance leases 672 906
Senior secured notes (772M€) Euribor 3M + margin  4.25% 2019 764 701 761 806
Senior notes 2020 (428M€) 7,75% 2020 423 623 422 305
Total non-current interest bearing loans and borrowings 1 188 996 1 185 017
Total interest bearing loans and borrowings 1 200 044 1 246 862
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12.3.  Hedging activities and derivatives 

 
Cash Flow Hedges 
 
As at March 31, 2017, the Group no longer has an interest rate swap. 
 

12.4. Fair values 

Set out below is a comparison by class of the carrying amounts and fair value of the Group’s 
financial instruments that are carried in the financial statements.   

 

 

 
The fair value of the financial assets and liabilities is the amount at which the instrument 
could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or 
liquidation sale.  
 

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:  

 Cash and short-term deposits, trade receivables, trade payables, and other current 
liabilities approximate their carrying amounts largely due to the short-term maturities 
of these instruments.  

 Long-term fixed-rate and variable-rate receivables are evaluated by the Group based 
on parameters such as interest rates, specific country risk factors, and individual 
creditworthiness of the customer and the risk characteristics of the financed project. 
Based on this evaluation, allowances are taken into account for the expected losses of 
these receivables. As at March 31, 2017, the carrying amounts of such receivables, net 
of allowances, approximate their fair values.  

 Fair value of quoted notes and bonds is based on price quotations at the reporting date. 
The fair value of unquoted instruments, loans from banks and other financial 
indebtedness, obligations under finance leases as well as other non-current financial 
liabilities is estimated by discounting future cash flows using rates currently available 
for debt or similar terms and remaining maturities. Because of the lack of similar 
transactions due to the current economic context, credit spreads of fixed rate 
borrowings have been considered to be equal to the credit spread applied at the 
inception of the debt.  

In thousands of €

As at March 31, 2017 As at March 31, 2017 As at March 31, 2016 As at March 31, 2016

Financial assets
Trade and other receivables 45 124 45 124 42 198 42 198
Other financial assets 13 176 13 176 13 833 13 833
Cash and cash equivalents 115 045 115 045 122 594 122 594
Total 173 345 173 345 178 626 178 626

Financial liabilities
Fixed rate borrowings (423 623) (447 000) (422 305) (457 960)
Obligations under finance leases (906) (906) (1 167) (1 167)
Floating rate borrowings (764 701) (780 100) (811 806) (822 000)
Interest rate swap - - (1 660) (1 660)
Trade and other payables (234 672) (234 672) (230 334) (230 334)
Bank overdraft - - (3) (3)
Total (1 423 903) (1 462 679) (1 467 275) (1 513 124)

Carrying amount Carrying amountFair value Fair value
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 The Group enters into derivative financial instruments with various counterparties, 
principally financial institutions with investment grade credit ratings. The calculation 
of fair value for derivative financial instruments depends on the type of instruments: 
Derivative interest rate contracts – The fair value of derivative interest rate contracts 
(e.g., interest rate swap agreements) are estimated by discounting expected future cash 
flows using current market interest rates and yield curve over the remaining term of 
the instrument. 
 

Fair value hierarchy 
The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of 
financial instruments by valuation technique: 
Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
Level 2: other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded 
fair value are observable, either directly or indirectly 
Level 3: techniques which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value 
that are not based on observable market data. 
 
The fair value of all interest rate derivatives is determined through valuation techniques of 
level 2. The fair value of long-term debt is determined using price quotations at the reporting 
date (level 1). 

 

13. Impairment test of goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite useful 
lives 

 

As of March 31, 2017, goodwill and the brand recognized through business combinations 
have been fully allocated to the group of CGU composed of stores in France. Leasehold rights 
are followed and tested for impairment at the store level (CGU). As of March 31, 2017, net 
booked value of goodwill and other intangible with indefinite useful lives is the following: 

 

  
 

 
Goodwill and brand  

The recoverable amount of the goodwill and the brand has been determined based on a value 
in use calculation using cash flow projections of French stores taken all together from 
financial budgets approved by senior management covering a five-year period, with 
determination of a final value calculated by discounting the estimated normative cash flow at 
the perpetual rate of growth to infinity. 

 

Key assumptions used in the determination of the value in use  

In thousand of € As at March 31, 2017 As at March 31, 2016

Goodwill gross value 815 170 815 170
Brand gross value 780 000 780 000
Leasehold rights gross value 47 802 47 643
Impairment of leasehold rights (526) (527)

Total 1 642 446 1 642 286
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The calculation of value-in-use is mostly sensitive to the following assumptions: 

 Discount rate; and 
 Growth rate used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the budget period. 

The discount rate applied to cash flow projections is 7.25% (compared to 7.5% the prior year) 
and cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using a 2.0% growth rate 
(compared to 1.9% the prior year). As a result of this analysis, no impairment has been 
recognized by the Group. 

 

Sensitivity to changes in assumptions 

With regard to the assessment of value-in-use of goodwill and the brand, the Group estimates 
that an increase in the discount rate by 50 basis points or a decrease by 50 basis points in the 
growth rate would not cause the carrying value of the above cash-generating units to 
materially exceed its recoverable amount. 
 

Reasonable changes in assumptions defined by the management should not cause the CGU’s 
carrying amount to exceed its recoverable amount. 
 
 
Leasehold rights 
 
Leasehold rights are tested annually at the store level. Their value in use is compared to their 
carrying value amount. If this latter exceeds their value in use, an impairment is recognized 
for the difference.  

No additional impairment charges have been accounted for during the year ended March 31, 
2017.  

 
14. Inventory 

 

 

 
  

In thousand of € As at March 31, 2017 As at March 31, 2016

Packaging 767 744
Non packaged finished goods 10 102 8 199
Packaged finished goods 78 818 72 827
Depreciation (1 600) (1 935)

Inventory 88 087 79 835
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15. Trade and other receivables 

 
 

 
 
 

16. Cash and cash equivalents 
 

  

 

For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents are net of bank 
overdrafts. 

 

 

  
  

In thousand of € As at March 31, 2017 As at March 31, 2016

Trade receivables 5 389 4 543
Prepaid expenses 21 210 20 866
VAT receivables and other sales taxes 14 413 11 756
Other receivables 4 112 5 033

Trade and other receivables 45 124 42 198

In thousand of € As at March 31, 2017 As at March 31, 2016

Cash at banks and on hand 56 186 72 531
Securities 58 859 50 063

Cash and cash equivalents 115 045 122 594

In thousand of € As at March 31, 2017 As at March 31, 2016

Cash and cash equivalents 115 045 122 594
Bank overdrafts - (3)

Net cash position 115 045 122 591
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17. Issued capital 
 

 

 

The share capital is fully paid-up. 

 

Capital Management 

The capital used by the Group is managed so as to: 

 ensure the continuity of the Group’s operations; 
 maintain an appropriate ratio of shareholders’ equity to debt in order to minimize the 

cost of capital.  

 
In addition, in order to maintain or adjust its capital structure, the Group may be prompted to 
take out new debt or repay existing debt, adjust the amount of its dividends paid to 
shareholders, conduct a capital repayment to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets in 
order to reduce debt levels. 
 
 
Mandatory redeemable preferred shares (MRPS) 

 

 

 

The MRPS gave right to two kinds of preferred dividends as follows: 

 
(a) a preferential and cumulative dividend at the annual rate of 1% of the nominal value of 
said MRPS, which shall accrue daily and be calculated assuming a 360-day year (the"First 
Preferred Dividend"); 

(b) a second preferential and cumulative dividend (the "Second Preferred Dividend") equal to 
any income received and/or accrued by the Company (net of any withholding taxes suffered) 
in relation to the preferred equity certificates issued to the Company by its subsidiary 
Lion/Polaris Lux 3 S.A. (the"PECs"), during the relevant financial year of the Company, less: 

In thousand of €
Number of 

shares
Share 
Capital

Share 
Premium

As at March 31, 2015 2 641 726 2 642 252 023

As at March 31, 2016 2 641 726 2 642 266 476

As at March 31, 2017 2 641 726 2 642 266 185

In thousand of €
Number of 

shares
Share 
Capital

Share 
Premium

Total MRPS

As at March 31, 2015 371 0,4 14 173 14 173

As at March 31, 2016 - - - -

As at March 31, 2017 - - - -
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(i) all costs and expenses of the Company - except tax charges - booked during the 
relevant financial year according to Luxembourg GAAP, to the extent that they 
relate to the PECs; and 

(ii) the First Preferred Dividend as computed for the relevant financial year. 

 
On February 20, 2015, the MRPS were reimbursed for a nominal amount of M€ 367.6 along 
with a premium of M€ 245. On May 29, 2015, the Company redeemed and cancelled the 
remaining 371 MRPS for a total aggregate price of M€14.5. The sole shareholder of Bondco 
SA consequently approved a capital contribution without the issuance of new shares in an 
amount corresponding to the redemption price of the MRPS.  

 

18. Dividends paid  
 

The Group did not pay any dividends during the period ended March 31, 2017. 

 

19. Earnings per share 
 

Information on the earnings and number of ordinary and potential dilutive shares included in 
the calculation is presented below: 

 

 
  

In thousand of € As at March 31, 2017 March 31, 2016

Net income attributed to Company shareholders (in thousands of euros) ………… 97 934 38 630

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding (in thousands)………… 2 642 2 642

Weighted average number of issued common shares and non dilutive potential 
shares (in thousands)……………….....……………………………………………  2 642 2 642

Basic earnings per share (in euros)………………………………………………… 37,07 14,62

Net income attributed to Company shareholders (in thousands of euros) ………… 97 934 38 630

Weighted average number of issued common shares and non dilutive potential 
shares (in thousands)……………….....……………….....………………………………  2 642 2 642

Weighted average number of common shares used for the claculation of fully 
diluted earnings per share (in thousands)………………...……….………………  2 642 2 642

Fully diluted earnings per share (in euros)………………………………………… 37,07 14,62
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20. Provisions and contingent liabilities 

 

 
 

21. Employee benefits 
 

The Picard defined benefit pension plan covers substantially all of the Group’s French 
employees. The plan is not funded. 

French employees are entitled to a lump sum when they retire depending on their length of 
service and on final salary.  

The following tables summarize the components of net benefit expense recognized in the 
income statement and the unfunded status and amounts recognized in the statement of 
financial position for these plans:   

 

 

The position recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position breaks down as 
follows: 

 

In thousand of €
Risks related  to 

the operations
Disputes and 

litigations Total

Provision as at March 31, 2015 370 2 905 3 274
Allowances 152 1 159 1 311
Reversal (137) (1 048) (1 185)

Provision as at March 31, 2016 385 3 016 3 400
Allowances 45 1 110 1 155
Reversal (220) (1 098) (1 318)
Provision as at March 31, 2017 210 3 028 3 237

In thousand of €

As at March 31, 2017 As at March 31, 2016

Current service cost  535 500
Interest cost  101 91
Benefit paid (133) (70)
Effects of settlements/curtailments - -
Net benefit expense 503 520
    recognized in operating income 402 430
    recognized in financial income 101 91

In thousand of €

As at March 31, 2017 As at March 31, 2016

Benefit obligation 7 301 6 765
Fair value of plan assets - -
Funded status 7 301 6 765
Unrecognized prior service cost - -
Benefit liability 7 301 6 765
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The Group's liability for defined benefit plans is K€ 7 301 as of March 31, 2017.  

 

Changes in employee benefit obligation are as follows: 

   

 

 

The cumulative amounts of actuarial (gains) and losses (before taxes) recognized in the 
consolidated statements of comprehensive income are as follows: 

   

 

 

The benefit obligation and the experience actuarial gains (losses) are as follows:  

 

 
 

 

 

In thousand of €

As at March 31, 2017 As at March 31, 2016

Benefit obligation at April 1 6 765 6 464
Current service cost 535 500
Interest cost 101 91
Effects of settlements/curtailments - -
Actuarial (gains) and losses 33 39
Benefits paid (133) (70)
Change in scope of consolidation (259)
Benefit obligation at March 31 7 301 6 765
of which classified in continued operations 7 301 6 765
of which classified in liabilities held for sale - -

In thousand of €

As at March 31, 2017 As at March 31, 2016

Balance at April 1 1 555 1 515
Net actuarial (gains)/(losses) during the period 33 39
Balance at March 31 1 588 1 555

In thousand of €

As at March 31, 2017 As at March 31, 2016

Benefit obligation at April 1 7 301 6 765
Experience adjustments generated on the benefit obligation

In amount (416) (149)
In percentage of the benefit obligation -6% -2%
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The principal assumptions used in determining defined benefit obligation for the French 
retirement indemnities plan are shown below: 

     

 

 

A single equivalent discount rate has been calculated using a cash flows matching method on 
future cash flows. 

For the French retirement indemnities plan, a decrease of 0.25% of the discount rate would 
increase the defined benefit obligation by approximately K€ 347. An increase of 0.25% of the 
discount rate would decrease the defined benefit obligation by approximately K€ 327. 

 

22. Trade and other payables 

   

 

Social liabilities include variable components of salaries which are not due for payment yet, 
accrued costs in relation with paid vacations, “recoverable” days in accordance with the 
French legal regime of  “Reduction of working time”, and legal and contractual profit sharing. 
 

23. Assets and liabilities held for sale 
 

No assets and liabilities held for sale as at March 31, 2017. 
  

In thousand of €

As at March 31, 2017 As at March 31, 2016

Discount rate 1,31% 1,39%

Average expected rate of salary increase 1,40% 1,30%

Withdrawal rates [0% - 31.9%] [0% - 31.9%]

In thousand of € As at March 31, 2017 As at March 31, 2016

Trade payables 169 658 172 071
Payables to suppliers of fixed assets 9 477 6 248
Social liabilities 51 725 47 732
Tax payables 3 787 3 831
Other payables 25 452

Trade and other payables 234 672 230 334
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24. Related party disclosures  

 

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Group and of the 
subsidiaries listed in Note 28. 
 

The following table provides the total amount of transactions that have been entered into with 
related parties for the relevant financial period: 

   

 
 
The following loans have been entered with related parties: 
 

 
 
 
Compensation of key management personnel of the Group for the period are: 
 

 
   
The amounts disclosed in the table are the amounts recognized as an expense during the 
reporting period related to key management personnel (amount relates to short term benefits). 
 

25. Commitments and contingencies 
 

Operating lease commitments – Group as lessee 

The Group has entered into commercial leases on commercial premises and warehouses. 
These leases have an average life of three years with renewal option included in the contracts. 
There are no restrictions placed upon the Group by entering into these leases. 

 

Associate:
Primex 
International SA

As at March 31, 2016 188 42 896 0 4 450

Associate:
Primex 
International SA

As at March 31, 2017 188 43 842 0 4 902

* Amounts are classified as trade receivables / trade payables respectively

Amounts owed to 
related parties*

Dividends  from related 
parties

In thousands of €
Purchases from 
related parties

Amounts owed by 
related parties*

As at March 31, 2017 As at March 31, 2016

Lion Polaris Lux Topco 235 217
Interests accrued 19 18
Total 254 235

In thousands of €

As at March 31, 2017 As at March 31, 2016

1 535 2 402

In thousands of €

Total compensation paid to key 
management personnel
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Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases as at March 31, 2017 
are as follows: 

  

 

 

 

  

Mortgages and pledges 
 
The following security interests have been granted to secure the 7.75% bonds issued by the 
Company for M€ 428 and floating rate senior secured notes issued by Picard Groupe S.A.S. 
for M€ 772, as well as the M€ 30 revolving credit facility: 
·        Pledges over all the shares of Lion/Polaris 3 Lux S.A., Lion/Polaris 4 Lux S.A., Lion 
Polaris II S.A.S. and Picard Groupe S.A.S; 
·        Pledges over the Lion/Polaris 3 Lux S.A. preferred equity certificates ("PECs") and the 
Lion/Polaris 4 Lux S.A. PECs;  
·        Pledges over the receivables under an intercompany loan between Lion/Polaris 4 Lux 
S.A. and Lion/Polaris II S.A.S. and an intercompany loan between Lion/Polaris II S.A.S. and 
Picard Groupe S.A.S.; and 
·        Pledges over bank accounts of Lion/Polaris 3 Lux S.A., Lion/Polaris 4 Lux S.A. and 
Lion Polaris II S.A.S. 
 
In addition, certain intellectual property rights of Picard Surgelés S.A.S., the shares of Picard 
Surgelés S.A.S. and Picard International S.A.S., the bank accounts of Picard Groupe S.A.S. 
and the receivables under an intercompany loan between Picard Groupe S.A.S. and Picard 
Surgelés S.A.S. have also been pledged to secure the M€ 30 revolving credit facility and the 
floating rate senior secured notes issued by Picard Groupe S.A.S. for M€ 772.  
 

Partnership 

The Picard Surgelés SAS subsidiary enters into framework agreements with some of its 
suppliers with a commitment on an annual volume of purchase. Suppliers may produce and 
store products dedicated to Picard Surgelés S.A.S.. 

Nevertheless, the transfer of ownership of these products occurs only at delivery of goods in 
Picard Surgelés S.A.S. or subcontractors warehouses.  
  

In thousand of €
Total

Less than one year
Between 1 and 5 

years
More than 5 years

Operating leases 124 465 52 309 62 662 9 494

In thousand of € March 31, 2017 March 31, 2016

Property rental 53 755 53 836
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26. Events after the reporting period 

 

No significant event after March 31, 2017. 

 

27. Employees 

 

  

 
28. Consolidated entities 

 

 

29. Statutory Auditor’s fees 

The total fees paid by the Group to the statutory auditors and their networks are as follow: 

 

 

 
 

Number of employees As at March 31, 2017 As at March 31, 2016

Employees "Cadres" 225 209
Employees "Agents de maîtrise" 1 162 1 126
Other employees 3 692 3 471
Total employees 5 079 4 806

Name
Country of 

incorporation
Consolidation 

method
%  of 

interest
%  of 

control
%  of 

interest
%  of 

control

Picard Bondco S.A. Luxembourg Full 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%
Lion/Polaris Lux 3 S.A. Luxembourg Full 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%
Lion/Polaris Lux 4 S.A. Luxembourg Full 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%
Picard Luxembourg Luxembourg Full 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%
Picard Groupe SAS France Full 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%
Lion Polaris II France Full 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%
Picard International SAS France Full 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%
Picard Sweden Sweden Full 75.00% 75.00% 75.00% 75.00%
Picard België Belgium Full 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%
Primex International SA France Equity method 37.21% 37.21% 37.21% 37.21%

As of March 31, 2016As of March 31, 2017

PricewaterhouseCoopers 545 568
MBV 28 20
KPMG 37 48
Total fees 610 636

In thousands of euros
As at March 31, 

2017
As at March 31, 

2016




